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The Factual Record

At the outscl, the two main protagonists in this case should be identified.
‘ Officer Jorge Rivera is the pricvant. He has been emplayed at the
i Metropolitan Detention Center (MDC) since 1993, He is classitied at

present as an Inmate Systems Offiver. Officer Rivera has been a Union

official since 1994 and has scrved us the President of AFGE Local 4052

since 2005, Lt. Danie! Rivera began his career with the Federal Bureau of

Prisons in 1990. He currently works in MDC’s Correctional Services
“ Department.

i Referring back to the arbitration cascs untecedent to the present case, on
July 19, 2002, Arbitrator Marcia L. Greenbaum resolved a sexual
‘ harassment suit in lavor of Officec Migdalia Toro. In that case, Lt. Danicl
Rivera was held to have engaged in an cyregious patten of sexual
harassment. Among other remedies, the award included a prohibition
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against taking reprisals against Officer Toro und any of the witnesses who
had (estified in the arbitration hearing. Grievant, Officer Jorge Rivera, in
representatiofs of the Union, served as an advocate on behalf of Officer
Tora. Tor failure to comply wilh the prohibition againsl taking roprisals in
the Greenbaum award, 4 second grievance was Jiled. alleging a continuing
pattern of reprisuls by T.t. Danicl Rivera, specifically allcging reprisals
against Officer Jorge Rivera. In the second case, decided February 6,
2007, Arbitrator Jerome J. La Penna found that the allegations were
substantiated by the preponderance of the evidence, both in the grievance
of" Officer Toro and Officer Jorge Rivera, Subscquenlly, on September 7,
2008, in o Supplementary Final Award, Asbitrator La Penna awarded
compensatory damages to Officer Toro in the amount of $156,000 and
$15,000 to Officer Jorge Rivera “as a resull of the discrimination and
retaliation practiced upon him through repeated false complainls of
employmenl tules and repulations.”  In addition, attorneys’ fees were
awarded in the amount of $7,100.

The next incident of record oceurred on February 6, 2008, prior to the
{ final La Pcnna award. 1t took place in the oflice of 1t. Rivera, The only
‘ other person present was Officer Rivera, Both gave sworn statements of
what had occurred and what was cxpressed, In important respects, the
sworn slalements were contradictory. Later in this Opinion (he Iebruary 6
incident will he fully considered for its bearing on the resolution of the
Union’s grievance.

Nince both Lt. Rivera and Officer Rivera in their respective statements had
referred to an element ol potential violence in what had transpired in the
February 6 encounter, the Warden convened a Threat Assessment group
which met on February 7, heard both protagonists and concluded (hat there
was no imminent threat of workplace violence, Thercupon, in accordance
with the Program Statcment of the Agency dealing with disciplinary
matters (1210.24), the Wurden notified the Tnternal Allairs Office in
Washington, D.C. that in his judgment the February 6 incident called for a
Classification 3 investigation to determine whether there had been
unprolessional conduct. The investigation was to be conducted by the
local Investigative Officer assigned (o MDC in Guaynabo. i began on
April 2, 2008 under the acgis of Investigator Tfrain Rivera who ok the
swom statements of both Lt Rivera and the grievant, and us well, the
statement of Correctional Supcrvisor, Lt José Rosa. The lalier had
responded almost immediately 1o the alarm which had been sct ofT hy
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grievant in Lt. Rivera’s oflice. Investigator Efrain Rivera submitted his
report in April of 2008 und shortly thercafter retired from service with the
Agency. His report was found to be waniing by the QIA In Washington
and g sccond investigntion was ordered which was held up until
Investigator Rivera's replacement, Special Investigative Agent Mark C.
Forc¢man, could take up his dutics on September 2, 2008,

Special Tnvestigative Apent l'oreman duplicated the procedures followed
by his predeccssor Agent Bfrain Rivera, yuestioning and taking the
statemicnts of the grievant, Tt Rivera and Lt Rosa, As in the first
investigation, various documents were delivered and signed by the
gricvant and by Lt Rivera. They were informed individually of their
rights during the investigation of their ulleged unprofessional behavior and
in another document were “instructed to cease any threatening or violent
behuvior and that you are reminded that such behavior is prohibited and
will not be tolerated.” Approximately mine months after the initiation ol
the first investigation, Agent Foreman submitted his report which was
accepted by OlA in Washington, ‘Lhercsfler, on Decomber 18, 2008,
Waurden Anthony Haynes notificd both the grievant and L. Rivera that the
investigation had been concluded, that in neither case was the allegation of
unprotessional conduct sustained and, therefore, *1 hereby consider this
case closed.™

Going back in lime to the start of the investigation into alleged
unprofessional conduct on April 2, 2008, it was shortly thercafter that the
Union filed the grievance in this case which was reccived by Southeast
Regional Director R.E. Holt on April 23, 2008, and subsequently denicd
by him on May 16,

I was informed by the FMCS on July 15, 2008, that the partics had agreed
1o aceept mce as the arbitrator in the case. Thereafier, there was a lurry of
motions between the parties which ended with agreement on the January
15, 2009 dule for the arhitration hearing. With respect to the hearing date,
the Agency in November of 2008 took the position that it was conditioned
on first concluding the investigation ino unprofessional conduct: “The
altorney for the Ageney has advised me that there is an ongoing
administrative investigation being carried out which would preclude
witnesses from boih parties from testifying in the January 15, 2009
hearing.” (See the November 20, 2008 letter from the Arbitrator to the
leyal representatives of the parties.) After hearing the parties and studying
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the pertinent documents — the Program Statement of the Office of Internal
Affairs dealing with procedures for investigating allegations of swll’
misconduct and the relevant provisions of the Master Agreement - |
decided that the January 13, 2009 hearing would be held as scheduled.

My reasoning is sel forth in a Resolution which is attached as Appendix
“A“,

Of great signilicance fo this casc is the fact that in claiming that no witness
could testify in the arbitration hearing until the OIA investigation had
terminated, no matter how Jong that would take, the Apency relied on an
‘ alleged prohibition against testilying which it asserted was in the Program
i Statement.  As & faclual matter, there was no such prohibition in the
‘ Program Statement. And yet, grievant was informed thal il he did testify,
he “could face adverse action, including removal”™ Tn a sense the issuc
became moot conceming whother the grievant could testify in the
arbitration hearing without being sanctivmed for doing so, becausc a month
prior 1o the hearing the administrative investigation had been terminated.
The issue still remains pertinent in this casc as evidence of how the
Agency was lrealing the grievant with respect to resolving disciplinary
‘ questions arising under the Master Agreoment and, as well, how it may
affeet the arbiration of future cases.

Note should also be taken of what is absent [rom the factual record in this
case. Both parties chosc 10 cut down the number of witnesscs which they
originally intended to call to testily. All told, each party called only two

i witnesscs, 1n particuldr, the nonappearance as a witness ol [.L Rivera had
the effect of denyiny lo the arbitrator testimony which might have had
greal evidentiary impact. In contrast, both partics submitied fulsomely for

1 the record relevant and pertinent documentary evidence. It is a truism of
arbitration that it is the arbitrator’s responsibility to decide the grievance
based solely on the testimony and the documents which the partics choose
to submit for the record.

The Issues From The Perspective Of The Partics

i ‘The “Formal Girlevance Form”, filed by (he Union in representation of the
grievant, consists of multiple issucs in the form of alleged violations of
‘ Title VTI, Civil Rights Act, Agency Program Statements, the Master
Agreement and prior arbitration awards. (The Grievance Form is attached
as Appendix “B™) The issucs to be resolved from the perspective of the
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) Union are whether the Agency is responsible for huving commitied the
| following alleged violations which for clarity of presentation arc listed
below verbatim and separalely:

1. “The Agcncy, by the actions of Anthony 1laynes, Wardcn, continues fo

violate the final and binding arbitration awards FMCS 401-12760 & 05-

5206™.

2. “the Slalute and provisions of the partics’ Collective Barpaining

Agreemnent  which puarentees Jorge Rivera, Union President, the

unconditional fght to fair and equitable treatment.”

3. “The legal right to be free from reprisals and to be frec from

discrimination based on Union activity and national origin.”

4. “Specifically, the Agency showed animus toward Jorge Rivera, by

anthorizing an ofticial administrative inquiry to dclermine whether
1 disciplinary action is warranted for Unprofessional Conduct on April 2,
| 2008.”

5. “The Agency continues to grant Danicl Rivera, Lieutenant, unlettered
‘ discretionary authority to supervise the gricvant, which allows the

supervisor to continuously tint the disciplinary process by reporting

frivolons actions of misconduct as a form of reprisals.”

6. “As a resull of the Agency’s refusal (o take immediatc and long term

remedial und effective mcasures, Jorge Rivera continues to b

discriminated against based on national origin (Pucrto Rican) and Union
‘ aftiliation.”

7. “Therefore, being the only employee of the Feders) Burcau of Prisons
required to wear @ body alarm for protection from a Correctional
Supervisor.”

‘ n response to “Request remedy” the grievance seeks a “Cease and desist
order; Attorney and legal fees...awand of equitable relief to include and

i nol be limited to compensalory damapes in the form of pceuniary
damages™.

In response to the question ol dates for the alleged viclations, the Union

responded on the form “April 2, 2008 and continuing.”

The issucs presented by the Apency are quoted directly from its Post
Hearing Briel ul pages 3-4:

1. *Is the gnevance moot?™
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2, “Has the Gricvanl attempted to cxpand the scope of the grievance
without the mutual consent of both the Agency and the Union, in violation
of the Master Agreement?”

3. "If the grievance is not moot and the scope of the grievance has not
been expanded, was the Agency's investigation of the February 6, 2008
incident in retaliation for the Grievant’s unjon ucti vity ar bascd upon his
national origin?”

4. “Has the Union proven (hat each and cveryone of the Agency’s actions
regarding Gricvant is in retaliation for his union activity or based upon his
national origin’7”

5.1 so, what shall be the cemedy?”

All t0ld, the parties have submitted ¢leven substantive issues and 4 range
of remedial requests for resolution. The substantive issues arc finst
addressed, beginning with those which are least complicated and then
proceeding to those which require more complex and extensive analysis,

Is the grievance moot? No it is not, tor at least two reasons. First, the
Agency phrasing of this issue is premised on the assumption that the only
issue in this case has to do with the administrative investigation of the
! February 6, 2000 incident which has been resolved favorably for the
grievant and, therelore, there is nothing remedial in nature 1o be resolved
; through arbitration. That premisc is incorrect. There arc multiple
‘ gricvances claimed by the gricvant, other than the manner in which the
‘ administrative  investigation was processed.  Even il Lhe Agency’s
assertion of mootness were (o be upheld, all the uther grievance issucs
would still need to be resolved.

The sccond erruncous premise underlying the Agency’s claim of rnootness
is that the report and decision made at the conclusion of the administrative
investigation is binding on the arbilrtor. [t is of course binding on the
Agency since it is the outeome of a process entircly within its control and
to which it is committed to respect.  Arbitation in contrast, as defined ig
the Master Agreement, is a bilaterat process which is established through
the mutual accord of the Agency and the Union. Both the Agency's
adminisiralive investigative proccss and (he Master Agreement’s arbitral
process have the same purpose which is w determinc the truth,  Bul both
are independent of the other in carying out their respective missions,
That is not to say that it would be appropriate for each process 10 ignore
the results of the other. In this case thal means concretely that as the
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arbitrator is this case T am duty bound to make an independent judgment
on what iranspired in the February 6. 2008 incident, as well as on all
matters related to the administrative investigative process. In doing so |
will take into account, as | appropriately should, the Agency's
investigarive report and oulcome, in order 1o determine the evidentiary
weight it should reecive in this case.

Has the Grievant aticmpted o expand the scope of the grievance
without the mutual consent of both the Agency and the Union? He hys
not. Article 32, Section a, of the Master Agreement docs provide that “the
issues, the alleged violations, and the remedy requested in the written
grievance may be modified only by mutual apreement”™. The question 1o
be determined, of course, is whether the Union has sought to cxpand the
scope of the grievance. From the Agency's perspective that is how il
cvaluates the fact that the Union has submitted for the record the second
professional misconduct investigation, having to do with the grievant and
Officer Jesus Hernandez, which in time began after the beginning date of
the grievance in April of 2008. In my judgment the admission of the
laner does not modifly ur expund the grievance. Fimst, that is because the
grievance clearly states thal its initial date js April 2, 2008 “and
continuing.” Secund, the testimony and documents related to the sceond
investigation is evidentiary matcrial wilhin the over all ¢laim of the Union
that the Agency has been effectuating these investigations to discriminate
against grievant and to deny his right to “fair and equitable reatment.” If
the Agency had been taken by surprise by the introduction of evidence of
the second investigation and had been unable to fairly defend its case, it
could have requested time Lo fully preparc its response. But it did not do
s0.  As the arbitrator. ] do not find that the Agency has been unfairly
prejudiced by the udmission info the reeord of the pertinent cvidence
related to the second administative investigation,

Bath parties, using diffcront wording, present as an issuc whether
gricvant has been discriminuted against based on national origin? My
decision js that the Union has failed to present probative evidence in
suppont of its claim of discrimination based on national origin, What it
has presented can only be charactorized as unpersuasive speculation of
discriminatory motive. The grievant's claim of discrimination is inferred
from the fact that in 2004 the Warden authorized him to wear a hody
alanm as @ proteclive meusure against possible violence by Lt. Rivera in
retaliation for his having served as an advocate in the Officer Toro sexual
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harassment case. As he states it in the Formul Cirievance Form, being a
Puerto Rican and “being the only employee in the Federal Bureau of
Prisons required to wear a body alamm for protection from u Correctional
Supervisor.”

On the facls, as he states them, there is 0o basis Tor assuming that the
motive of the Warden was to discriminate against him because of his
national origin. Grievant presented po evidence bearing on the question of
motive. T did ask him in the hearing, ax a possible altemative, could the
Waurden have becn motivaied o protect him from passible physical harm
without regard for his national origin? Grievant insisted on his conviction
that the motive was discrimination based on national origin.  For the
question and answer inlerchunge, see Transcript, pages 147-153, The short
of it s thal assertion alone is not enough: wilhout probative evidence the
charge ol discrimination based ou national vrigin cannot be sustained.
There also should be clarificd whether grievant is “required” to wear o
body alarm or is simply authorized to do so. It may well be that the
Warden in 1994 required grievant to wear the body alarm as a measure to
protect him against possible bodily harm, but it is ¢lear that the Agency’s
present position iy thul grievant s authorized to do so entirely at his
option. Thal option the Agency in the hearing made clear is now open for
all employed ut MNC. See the testimony of Lt Jose R. Rosa, Transcripl.
page 212 .

The remaining issucs arc an interrelated mix of allcged retaliatory actions,
violations of the [aimess principle in the Master Agreement, alleged
illegal intimidation and failures to comply with the remedial provisions in
the (wo awards rendered in the sexual harassment case of Officer Toro.
They are phrased in the form of questions which are dirccted to
determining the essential facts of this case.

In the exercise of its functions under the Program Statement for
erocessing disciplinary matters, did the Agency retuliate against
grievant for huving served as a union advocate in the Officer Toro
caxe or did it accord him treatment which was unfuir? Tt was not unti!
the hearing on TJanuary 15, 2009, thal the Union learned that the
administrative investigative process effectusted under the terms of the
pertinent Program Slatement hud been carried out not only with cespect to
the yrievunt, but that identical procedure had been followed with respect to
Lt. Daniel Rivera. Both had been involved in the February 6, 2008

8
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incident and both had been accorded identical treatment in the
investigation which the Warden had ordercd, And the vutecome was the
same for both: in neither case was the charge of unprofessional conduct
sustained. Tlad the Union been privy to the fact that the Agency was acting
procedurally with identical ettect toward both protagonists in the Fehruary
6, 2008 incident, T would assume that they would not have charged that
the Agency had discriminated against the grievant in the investigative
proccss. The fact of the matter is that the only evidence in the hearing
record is proof of cquality of treatment in the procedures followed. On
this evidentiary record, there is no basis for a finding that the Agency had
retaliated against the grievant.

Nor does the Union’s claim fare better that the Warden manipulated the
Program Statement to define the subject of the investigation as one of
professional misconduct, and therefore a category 3 violation, so that he
could rctain control over the investigation through his contrul over the
local investigative agent, whereas if the investigation had proceeded as a
Category 1 violation for alleged violent conduct, the investigation would
have to be carried out by an agent sent trom the OIA’s office in
Washington, D.C. In the Union's view, an QIA centrically directed
investigation would have guaranteed a fairer result,

In my judgrncent, the Union’s position is not supported by the facts in the
record.  First, the Threat Assessment group found that there was no
imminent threat of violence. Second, on the basis of that finding, it was
reasonable for the Warden to categorize the subject ot the investigation as
alleged unprofessional conduct. Third, the evidence of record is that the
Warden docs not have complete control over Category 3 cases. He makes
the recommendation to the OIA in Washington which in turn approves it
or adopts a‘dillerent handling of the case. Fourth, it is the OIA in
Washington which passes final judgment on the report of the local
Investigative Officer stationed at the MDC in Guaynabo. Filth, no
evidence was presented in support of the Union’s contention that an OJA
agent dircetly appointed from Washington would act any differently from
a locally stationed agent in the conduct of an investigation, Tn point of
fact, in this case the OIA in Washinglon rgjected the report of
TInvestigative Agent Efrain Rivers and ordered hig substitute Agent Mark
Foreman to repeat the entire investigative process, Afler he had complied,
the OIA finally approved his report. The short of it is that there is no
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‘ evidentiary basis for holding that how the Warden carried out his
’ responsibilitics under the Program Statement was retaliatory in nature.

But in effectuating the provisions of the Program Statement, has the
Agency acted illegally or in accordance with the grievant’s right
under Article 6, Section b-2 of the Master Agreement “to be treated
fairly and cquitable in all uspects of personnel management™? In my
judgment, it has acted illegully and has not complied with Artcle 6,
Section b-2, for the reasons which follow.,

First, the question of illegality gocs back to memoranda in the form of

i motions sent by the Agoncy’s legal representative in November of 2008
while the February 6, 2008 incident was still under investigation by Agent
Foreman.  Citing Second Program Statement 1210.24(9)(9¢), the
Agency’s legal represenwtive erroncously stated that employees who had
been interviewed in the ongoing adminisirative investigation were not
permitied to tastify in the scheduled arbitration proceeding and, if they
did, that they “could face adverse action, including removal” See
Appendix “A”, page 2. There is nothing in the Program Statement which
prohibits employces who have been interviewed in a siill pending
nvestigation from lestifying in an arbitration hearing. The asserted
probibition was a simple fabrication. Morc o the point, it was an illcpal
fabrication.  The Agency has no legal aulhurity o amend the Program
Statement as it did. The illogality is compounded by the fact that the
tabricated prohibition was used o justify holding off on the scheduled
arbitration hearing dete, indelinitely, until such time as the administrative
{nvestigation had been completed.

j Second, the threat w grievant of adverse action, including removal, in
| addition 1o being illepal, also violated his rights under the Master
| Agreement to treely exercisc his grievance and arbitration rights, under
‘ Articles 31 and 32, without fear of incurring adverse actions. There can
be no doubt that the Agency’s threat was intimidating, without basis in
law and in vielation of the Master Agreement.

Third, turning to the question of gricvant's “right (o be treated fairly and
cyuilably in all aspects of personnel managemen(™ under Article 6, b-2 of
the Master Agreement, ow the investigation of the February 6, 2008
incident was carried out fails to meet the Master Agreement’s standard of
fairness. What should have been an expeditious investigation took nine
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months to consummate. There were only two principal witnesses, L.
Dani¢l Rivera and Officer Jorge Rivera, whose statemnents had to be
taken, and that of Lt, Jose Rosa. The first Investigative Agent, Firain
Rivera, completed the investigation rapidly prior to his retirerment in April
of 2008. His reporl was rejected by the OIA [or what was subsequently
revealed 1n the hearing to b minor malters. See Agent Fureman's
testimony, Iranscript, pages 278-281. To clear up those minor maliers
consumed another four months.  All told, the gricvant had to live nine
months with the anxicty of nol knowing what the final oulcome of the
investigation would be und, very particularly, whether the result would
entail the imposition of disciplinary action. 'I'hat simply was not fair to
gricvant, In my judgment the unfair trcatment o which he was submitted
was unconscionable. Tt was, in addition, in cleur violation of the Program
Slatement’s requirement that investigations are to be resolved promptly.

‘ In defense of how it has cfleciuated the Program Statement, the Agency

has steessed what it lerms as the equality of treatment received by both the
grievat and Lt. Duniel Rivern. That is true on the surface of what
transpired. But there is ample reason to doubt whether Lt. Rivera suifered
anxicty vver the outcome of the investigation or that he felt inlimidated
when informed that he might be removed if he testified in the arhitration
hearing while the investigation was stil! ongoing. From the findings in the
two prior arbitration award which fulsomely detail his acts of retaliation
and for which no disciplinary action has been taken, it is highly unlikely
that Lt. Rivera would have been worried about the outcome of the
administralive investigation. Sexual harassment and retaliation are surel y
more serious infractions than professional misconduct. Having been
effectively granted imumnunity from disciplinary action by the Agency for
the former infractions, he most probably did not fecl (hat he would be
sanctioned for the laticr. He did not testify in the arbitrution hearing,
making it impussible to have questioned him on this puint. On the record
in this case, I would conclude that while the grievanl was gricvously
allecled by the Agency’s illegal and unfair lrestment, it is reasonable (o
infer thal no similar gricvous impact was felt by 1.1, Rivera.

Fourth, there remains to be considered whether the processing of Officer
Jesus Hernandez’ complaint ugningt the gricvant satisfies the Master
Agreement’s standard of fairmess. On the basis of the hearing record, 1
find thut it does not, My conclusion is based on how the two principal
documents have buen treated by Agency officials. Complying with his

| i
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institutional duty, on September 9, 2008 the grievant informed  his
supervisors that he had observed Officer Jesus [Ternandez carrying out his
assigned responsibilities in violation of Agency rules. In his statement,
the grievant delineated the violations specifically.  The grievant's
memorandum to his supervisors is attached as Appendix “C”. The
supervisors he informed were Inmate System Supervisor Maria Diug,
Associate Warden Jose Suntana and Case Managcment Coordinator Juan
Segarra. Transcript, page 177,

Subscquently, Officer Hemandez filed a complaint allcging that the
grievant had violated the norms of  professional conduct in the way he
had treated him. That complaint served ta initiate an administrative
investigation to determine whether the grievant was guilty of profcssional
misconduct in his ircatment of Officer Hernandez See the notice by
Special Investigative Agent Mask Forcman to the grievant, daled
November 13, 2008, attached as Appendix “D™. Tn his testimony in Lhe
arbitralion hearing, held on January 15, 2009, Agent Foreman stated that
he had nat seen or heard of the memorundum which the grievant had
submitted 1o his supervisors, See Transcript, pages 286-289.

There is something more than a little odd about the sequence of facts in
this matter, Two months alter the gricvant reports to his Supervisors work
performance violations by Officer Hemandcz, he finds himself charged
with alleged protessiona) misconduct und with having to defend himself in
an administrative investigation.  Obviously, grievant’s report of Officer
llernandez’ violations is a critically impartant document in the
investigation to determine the truth or falschood of Officer Hernandez
charges. Yct two months after the initiation of the investigation Agent
Foreman had no knowledge of preivan’s memorandum, Somchow this
vital picee of evidence failed to be called o the attention of Agent
Fureman,

lle now knows of it; the only question is what weight he will give to it.
Will he sce it as a vital piece of evidence, as T do, or will he give it no
weight on the ground that his duty is to detcrmine solely whether Officer
Hernandes® allegations are sustained by sufficient evidence? Judging by
how he investiyated the Pebruary 6, 2009 incident, the latter will probably
be the approach he takes. Sce Transcript, pages 272-373. From the
perspective of this arbitrutor, 1 find that (he Agency in processing this
particular complaint has not demonstrated a disinterested scarch for (he
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.

full truth of the dispute and, therefore, bas not complied with the Master
Agreement’s requirement of fairncss in making personnel decisions.

There are two interrelatod issues which go te the heart of this case: Has
the Agency complied fully with the arbitration awards in the sexual
| barasyment cases brought by Officor Toru as they relatc to the rights
’ of the grievant and, specifically, has he been subject to retaliatory
actions? Arbitrator T.aPenna in his Supplementary Final Award, dated
‘ September 7, 2008 did decide that there had not been full compliance, that
| the grievant had been subjected to discrimination and retaliation and,
therefore awarded him damages in the amount of $15,000. The fuctual
findings of discrimination and retaliation cover the lime period ending
with LaPenna’s award which was rendered February 6, 2007, 1t is the
Ageney's position that as of the date initiating this grievance, as well as up
W the present, that the Agency is in [ull compliance with the pertinent
arhitration awards and that no retaliatory actions have been tuken against
the grievant.

That was precisely the position taken by Repional Director R.E. Holt in
denying the grevance in his letter of May 16, 2008. See Agency exhibit
1. The Agency’s position was fuily spelicd out in the arbitration hearing
and summed up in its Post Hearing Brief at page 3: “the Gricvant works
for Inmate Systems Dcpartnent while Lt. Rivera works for (he
Correctional Services Department. Next, Appeliant’s regular work hours
are from 2:00 p.m. 1o 10 p.m. while Lt. Rivera’s shift is from 6:15 a.m. to
2:45 p.m. Third. individuals usually do not work on the same floor of the
institution, Grievani on the first floor while Lt. Rivera’s oftice is on the
third loor.”

Tt should be recalled that in the Formal Grievance Form the grievant
alleges that “The Agency vontinues to grant Daniel Rivera, Lisutenant,
unfettered discretionary authority to supervise the gricvant, which allows
the Supervisor to taint the disciplinary proccss by reporting frivolous
allegations ol’misconduct as a form of reprisals.” See Appendix “B”. In
his hearing testimony, the grievant stated that there are times when his
shift and that of Lt. Rivera’s cuincide. When asked how often that
happened, he replicd, “At a minimum, three times a week, I'm subject 1o
his supcrvision,” Transcript, page 147. This was not challenged on cross
examination, or refuted by any witness or document admiticd in the
record. 1t is thercfore accepled ax a factual finding in this case. | ussume
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that is what grievant in the grievance has termed “unfettered discretionary
authority to supervise”.

I do not take the term tv mean that for the overwhelming part of his
working time grievant is denying that in fact he is being supervised by
supervisors other than Lt. Rivara. What “unlcitered diserctionary™ means
i3 not clear, but I would assumc gricvant has in mind the imposition of
retalintory actions.  Whother such actions were indeed taken is to be
considered later. At this junclure the question to be answered is whethor
there is in the hearing record any evidence that Lt. Rivera in fact did report
“frivolous allcgations of misconduct as a form of reprisals” against the
gricvanl, There is nothing in the record (o that effect and, therelore, that
allegation is found to be without supporting evidence.

Also mol challenged by the Agency in the hearing was grievant's
testimony that in the coursc ol his regular duties he must enter 14, Rivera’s

J office, whether or not the Lieutenant is on duly. As he stated, that is
where requests for overfime assignments are located and the
accompunying record is kept and, as well, the “posted picture file™ which
he is required to consult as part of his duties, Transcripl, page 64. Not
having been refuted, his testimony in that repard is adopted ax a fuctual
linding in this casc.

Turning now 10 the question of whether Lt. Rivera did in fact exercisc his
supervisory authorily 1o retalinic against the grievant, or whether the
Agency institutionally so acted, we look 1o the evidentiary record. There
is one ullegation to the cffcet (hat grievant’s participation as a union
advocate in the arbitration cases resulted in his receiving negative
performance cvatuations. In the hearing, that allcgation turned ont to be
wanting in supporting evidence, Iis immediate supervisors appeared to
have judged him on the merits.

However, there are in the record at Icast two incidents which qualify as
reprisals and perhaps a third and a fourth for which Lt, Rivera has no
direct responsibility. The gricvant Lestified that he requested four hour sick
leave Novembcr S, 2008, and that the supervisor af the lime who had the
authority to grant his requesl was 1.1, Rivera and who did indeed deny his
request. As a consequence, the grievant was reported as AWOL and lost
four hours of his pay, See \runscript, pages 143-145. Hig lestimony was
not refuted by an Agency witness, nor by a document admitted as
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evidence in the record. Nor was it eftectively challenged on cross
cxamination. [ therefore conclude that Lt. Rjvera did exercise his
authorily to deny gricvant’s request for four hours of sick leave. 1 further
find that it 15 reasonable 1o infer that the motive for the denial was to

retaliate for grevant’s participation as an advocate in Officer Toro's
sexual harassment cases,

The second reprisal as alleged by the grievant actually led up to the
February 6, 2008 incident. According to his testimony, the gricvant had
signed for an overlime assignment which was scheduled for 6:a.m. on that
day. When he arrived at MDC, he discovered that his name had been
erased from he overtime list. He asked his immediate supervisor who had
erased his name. His reply was that he had not done it, bul that the
gricvant shotld check with Lt. Rivera. This he did and according to his
testimony, T, Rivera responded to his inquiry with angry cxpletives and
did not give him a substantive answer. Transcript, pages 64-66. I crodit
grievant's testimony Lo the extent of finding thal he never received cither a
yes or a no with respect to the question of whether Tt. Rivera was or was
not responsible for erasing his name trom Lhe overtime list,

L. Rivera did not appear as a wilness in the arbitration hearing to refute
the grievant’s testimony. Neither did the Agency present evidence of any
sort on who else other than Lt. Rjvera might have been responsible for
erasing his nam¢, Harm was done to the gricvant by his losing out on the
extra income he had expected to cam by the overtime assignment, There
was ncither refutation nor impeachment through cross examination of
grievants lestimony by the Agency. Under all the circumstances, [ find
that Tt Rivera was responsible for Lhe erasure of the grievan(’s name and
that the motive for su acting was to retaliate against the grievant for his
participation as an advucale in the Officer Torp cases. The significance of
the February 6, 2008 incident is more fully analyzed later in this opinlon.

Ihe third action by the Agency was reprehensible but is debatable as Lo
whether it should be characierized as rewliation or simply as illegal
discriminatioh and intimidation. 1 refer to the Agency's waming the
grievant in November of 2008 that if he tostificd in the scheduled
arbitration hearing that he would risk disciplinary action, including
possiblc removal. To intimidate the gricvant, the Agency fabricated a non
existent prohibition in the I'rogram Statement. [ am assuming that that is
not the general practice of the Agency, that it was done only in the case of
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the grievant, in which casc it wis 8 matter of ilegal discrimination whose

‘ only possible motive had its source in his having served as an advocatc in
Officer Toro’s cases. Furthermore, I assume that it did not have the same
intimidating eflect on Lt. Riveta for the reasons given earlicr in this
opinion, On reflection, T conclude that the conduct of the Agency in this
matler could he considered most upprupriately to b a hybrid action of
illegal discrimination and retaliation.

The fourth matter has been considered previously as a violation of the
gricvant’s right to have all personncl aclions comply with the fairness
principal in the Master Agreement. The violation took the form ol high
cchelon Agency officials failing in their obligation 1o sec to it that vitally
relevant information which the gricvant had submitted to them would, in
um, be transmitted to Agent Foreman who was carrying out the
investigation of Officer Jose Hemandez’ complaint against the gricvant
tor professional misconduct.  Whether the violation should also be
characicrized us discriminatory or retalialory, depends on whelher they
would have acted in the same manner in the cuse of any other employee at
MDC. lior want of evidence on that point in the hearing record, the
answer (o that question would huve to be speculative.  Hence. on
reflection, my conclusion must be limited to the finding that the Agency
fuiled to treat the grievant fairly by not ensuring that the Agent Foreman
would have access o all relevant elements of the case he was
invesligaung.
The February 6, 2009 Incident

The immediatc cause for the liling of the gricvance in this case was the
February ¢, 2008 incident. The swomn affidavits of the grievant and Lt
Rivera, both dated April 2, 2008, giving their versions of what transpired
in the incident, ure attached respectively in Appendices “I" and “F”. For
the purpose of resolving this case, what significance can be distilled
from the February 6 incident? The starting point in responding to the
| question is the problem of gotting at the truth of what happened. In the
grievant’s version, Lt. Rivera responded to the question of whether he had
erased the gricvant’s name from the Escort ‘Irip scheduled for that
morning, by standing up from his desk and speaking the following: “who
the fuck arc you to question me about any trips in my fucking office.” In
his hearing testimony, grievant statcd that he felt threatened by what he
feared to be an imminent threat of physical violence. Transeript pages 69,
298-299. Tha is his explanation for doing what he describes in his sworn
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statement. “1 immediately sttempted to activate my personal radio body
alarm and also activated the triple deuces’ alarm in order to notity the
Control Center.”

This is .t. Rivera’s version of how he responded to Grievant's question: “]
told Officer Riveru that 1 do not work with hospital trip assipnments aod
only the Operations Lieutenant was the one wha assigned staff to the
hospital trips excorl. Officer Rivera state, *you are the one who does (hose
things™. T informed Officer Rivera once again that 1 do not deal with
medical trips, Officer Rivera staled, ‘you want to fuck with me, watch
this’, and pressed the triple deuces in the 7838 extension phone.  Qfficer
Rivera then Il the office and Tieutenant Rosa came inside the
Lieutenant's Oflice und clear (sic) the triple deuces and 1 explaincd what
has transpired with Officer Rivera Jorge (siv).” T+. Rosa’s sworn statcrment
simply reported that be cocountered Lt. Rivera alone in his office and is
not discussed further becausc it hias no probative effect on the oulcome of
this case.

In the hearing, I guestioned Agent Foreman as follows: “If T understand
; your testimony you felt that your responsibility was to take the allegations,
and determine whether either of the two allegations were true or not, and
you found insufficient evidence w reach a conclusion as to the truth, and
therefore, you recommended dismissing the matter.” To my comment, he
responded, “That’s correct.™ ‘Iranscript, pages 276-277,

As the arbilralor in this case, 1 do not feel bound by Agent Foreman’s
Jjudgment that there wus no way to determine the truth. To begin with, hc
interviewed both protagonists. In the arbitration hearing, the gricvant
testified, was subjected to cross examination and responded 1o my
yuestions about what had oceurred during the February 6 incident. As the
arbitrator I was able (o cvaluate the credibility of gricvant’s testimony.
The Agency chose not to have T.t. Rivera testify whicli means that I have
10 evaluate his credibility based entirely on his swom staiement, A second
difference beiween the investigative process s etfectuated by Agent
Foreman and the arbitration process as cllectuated in this case, is that he
considered as irrclovant to his investigation any inquiry which went
outside the complaints of professional misconduct as alleged in the swom
statements of buth protagonists.
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I contrust, T have taken into account the past conduct of Lt. Rivera, very
especially as delincated in Arbitrator LaPenna’s latest award which he
tendered September 7, 2008. It is a fact that for many yeurs Lt. Rivera has
been the victimizer-retaliator and his victim has been the grievant. Also
taken into account have been the two retaliatory actions which 1 have
found to be Lt. Rivera’s doing. It was such considerations which caused
} me W weigh as T did 1t, Rivera's futlure in his sworn statement in which
he uvaided a cateporical yes or no to the grievant’s question of whether he
had erased his name from the overtime. His explicit failure to deny wrong
doing, combincd with the Agency’s indifference 1o investigate who elsc
might been the yuilty actor, in my judgment was sulficient to conclude
that L. Rivera was the person responsiblc.

Beyond finding that Lt. Rivera was responsible for the crasure of

Grievant's name from the yvertime Hist, in good confidence 1 cannot make

additional credibility findings, cither in favor of the gricvant or [t, Rivera,

: What gives me pause is the fact thar the February 6 dispute is simply the
final incident in what has been an ongoing feud in which, as I have
characterized it, Lt. Rivers has been the victimizer-retaliator and the
Grievant, us the weaker party, has been his victim, In a situaton of that
kind, one cannot expect cither party to be expetiencing cmotional
equanimity and, therefore when testifying to tell the unvurnished truth. In
addition, when both parties are the only witnesscs to what went on in a
mecting between them, as in this case, and there is no additional reliable

i evidenee bearing on either one of their versions of what happenced, it
becomes almost impossible to determine the truth.  Hence, in good
conscience, T cannot make findings regarding whether cither parly used
profane or threatening language toward the other, or whethcr objectively
there was any danger of physical violence.

Violence Objcctively Considered And Ag Perceived

When 1 speak of whether there was any ohjective danger of physical

violence, T have in mind the faels of record with regard to whelher either
| of the two arbitrators who adjudicated the sexual harassment cascs had
found Lt Rivera guilty of acts of physical violence. 1t is my
understanding thut they did not. His condyct may be charucterized as
psychological violence, but there is no finding that he exercised physical
violence against Qflicer lToro or the gricvant. The [act is, then, that
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\ however deplorable his conduct has been over the years of the two
arbitration cases, his misconduct had not included physical violence.

How to explain this? One possiblc answer is that rationa) self interest has
triumphed over the desire for revenge. The Agency may have been lax or
indifferent in douling with Lt. Rivera’s soxual harassment misconduct, but
he most probably believes that it would not be permissive were he to
engage in overt ucts of physical violence. As the Agency’s February 7,
2008 cease and desist order statcs, served on both Lt. Rivera and the
grievant: “you arc hereby instructed to cease any threatening or violent
hehavior and you are reminded that such hehavior is prohibited wnd will
not be tolerated,” Whatever anger and resentment he bears toward the
i grievant, Lt. Rivera is a pofessiona!, assurcdly takes pride in his position
and his sense of rational self interest has been sulficiently strong to keep
him from overstepping the bounds of risk free behavior, It js surcly
| reasonable to assume that he knows from cxperience that he may conumit
acts of sexual harassment and reprisal and not risk his position. but that
engaging in physical violenee could well cause the end of his carcer with
the Agency.

That is not the way the grievant sces it. The fear he feels of possible
violence from Lt Rivera and the resentment he bears toward him was
| manifest in his testimony in the arbitralion hearing. 1 find that his fears
and how they arc affecting him are genuine and are clearly palpable in his
testimony related to the February 6 incident and, as well, to his feelings in
gencral toward LU Rivera, For example, in one instance of a number to the
same eftect, when I usked him to deseribe his feclings after entering Lt.
Rivera’s office and questioning him about the erasure of his name, he
testified thut the Licutenant $tood up [rom his desk and cursed him:
“Lieutenant Rivera is about six {oot [uur, six four and a half, over two
hundred and thirty, two bundred and forty pounds. T weigh a hundred and
sixty pounds soaking wet. So this is u hig difference.” Among the many
‘ fears he expressed, he stressed his fear of “petting my s kicked”.
i Iranseript, page 298.

The tollowing testimony of the grevant sums up how he perceives his
situation in general: “it’s been cight ycars of consistent pressure from the
agency, pressurc from this supervisor..being a victim of unprofcssional
conduct (rom the supervisar, being a victim ol having multiple wardens
condone this type of bebavior, having been a victim of his own oolleagues,
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other supervisors condonc this type of hehavior, look the other way,
; pulling me in a position where damned if I do, damuned if I don't...T wake
‘ up in the middle of the night, and 1 got this chest pain, and when I go to
i the doctor, he wants to give me pills, and I don’t want to tuke pills; I don’t
want to depend on pills. All | ask for is for this individual to leave me
alone. That is it.” Transeript, pages 154-156.

[ should stress again that is how the grievant perceives his situation viz a
viz Tt Rivern and the management officials of MDC. T find hig
expressions of emotional anguish 1 he genuinely felt, that is truly how he
feels it. But that is only the heginning of the inquiry which must be made,

| His feclings are 4 reality which should be taken into account. But they
have to be cheeked against objective facts and those objective facts have
to be limited to events and actions which are within the time period
covered by the gricvaace in (his case. 'The grievance was filed in Apri) of
2008. Iis coverage is from the LaPenna award on February 6, 2007 until
January 15, 2009, the date of the hearing in this case, F indings were made
in earlier sections of this opinion to the offoct that Li. Rivers still excreiscs

’ supcrvisory authority over the grievant, albeit limited in time periods, and
probative cvidence supports a  limited number of retaliatory,
discriminatory and illegal actions.

On the other hand, complaints of the grievant have been found not to be
supported by cvidence, for example, whether his supervisors fairly
evaluated his job performance or whether the Warden discriminatcd
against him in effectuating the provisions of the Program Statement. A
further point: what the grievant asserts about past Wardens may be (rue,
r but no evidence was presented for the record in this case that the present
Warden has condoned relaliatory, discriminatory or itlcgal auts. The short
of it is that objectively appraised, the gricvant’s account of his situstion iz
@ viz Lt. Rivera, and the Agency in general, is « mix of proven and
unproven alicgations. TTow the mixed state of the evidentiary record bears
on shaping the appropriate remedics to be awarded is considered in the
i following section.

; What Remedies Should Be Awarded in This Case?

1n most labor arbitrution cases, once the arbitrator makes his findings of
fact, the determination of what constinutes an appropriale award is usually
not a complicated or ditficult issue. For example, in cases of unjust
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dischacges the remedies usually include an award of reinstatement, back
pay and, perhaps, an order 1o cease and desist from a practice which
violates the callective bargaining agreement. Similarly, if the issuc in
dispute involves contractual interpretation, the uward determines the
comreet interpretation and orders whatever remedial measurcs may bhe
needed to unduc the harm caused by the erroneous interprelation. In the
general run of cases the guiding remedial principle is to make the grievant
wholc, in shont, 10 do equity.

I'hat too is the guiding principle in employment discrimination cases, but
in such cases implementing equity tends to be a far more complex process
and even more so if once the grievance has apparently been resolved,
there is an aftermath of retaliatory actions. In this patticular case, shaping
an appropriale award, in terms of cquitable objectives, is especially hard if
thosc objectives ure broadly conceived. This meaas, in my opinion, that
more must he accomplished than making the gricvant whole for the
injuries he has suffercd, and urdering the cessation of prohibited practices:
urgently needed, in addition, is u remcdial preseription which would have
4 good chance of truly putting an end to Lhix dispute. This has been an
ongoing dispute since before 2002; there have been multiple arbitration
awards; thus third case is about to culminate in an award. It should seek as
the ultimate equitble objective 1o lay the groundwork which would
testore the mutual respect and trust hetween the Union and the Agency
which the Preamble to (e Master Agreement defines as the basis of a
good refationship,

Defining mutual respect and trust as the ultimate objective should not
blind us to the obstacles which stund in the way of its achievement.
Perhaps the biggest obstacle is the fact that each party {ends to insist on
sceing unly its side of the case. For exumple, it is cssential for the Agency
10 accept that it has not fully implemented the LaPenna award which
orders that “Lt. Rivera shall not supervise Officer Jorge Rivera dircetly or
indirectly and under any circumstances”, but it is equally essential that the
Unton recognize that the Agency has implemented substantial measures,
in terms of assignment to working units and working shifts, to separare the
iwo mern.

A second contrasting ¢xample should suffice to cmphasize the point: the
Union and the grievant should understand that by wrongly asserting that
gricvant's supervisors had unfairly evaluated his job performance, that

2]
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assertion would almost cortainly create ill will toward him by the
Agency’s supervisory stafl, whereas, by crcating a false prohibition
against testifying, the Agency almost cectainty contirmed the grievant in
his belief that the intention was to intimidate him and that the underlying
motive was (o retaliate for his having served as a union advocate in the
Officer Toro case.

The tendency to sce only one side has been fortitied by the fact that
hostility has hardened over the years between these two men. Fach one
attributcs the creation of a hostile cnvironment to the ather. Thal was the
essence of OfTicer Rivera’s testimony in the hearing. That also was Lt
Rivera's assertion in his sworn slalement: “Officer Rivera is invading my
waork area and is provoking me, thus creating a hostile work environment
for no reason.”  Also complicating efforts to shape remedial measurcs
which might restore normal relutions between the Union and Ageney, 13
the fhct that the grievant is the Union President and it is palpable that ¢ach
side tends to defend its own and to scorc points against the ather.

That was evident in the way cach parly presented its version of the case
and how it sought to demolish the other side's version of the case. That
also is the siguificance | would give to the testimony of Mr. Eric Young,
South East Regional Vice President of the Council of Prison Locals who
related his discussion with South East Regional Director R. E. Holt. The
subject of discussion was an efforl 10 resolve the ongoing problenis
between the grievant and Lt. Rivera. No agreement on a solution was
reached, with each side sticking Lo its position. Transcript, pages 35-38.

To overcome the laticr obstacles, there will be included in the award
remedial orders which are not typical, precisely becanse this is an
exceptional case. Tt will also include a number of recommendations
which are intended to fortify the objective of reaching a final solution, but
which [ have concluded are beyond the remedial authority of the arbitrator
l cast-as orders under the terms of the Master Agreement. Herewith is my
reasonimg in“support of the remedisl measurcs and recommendations
which are included in the award.

1. The preponderance of the evidence in the hearing record fully supports
the conclusion that the through its ofliciuls the Agency has violated the
rights of the grievant in manifold ways. The grievant has suffered from
discrimination and reprisals which arc prohibited by Title VIT of the Civil
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Rights Act, the Agency's failure to fully implement Arbitrator LaPenna's
awards und the Master Agreement’s guarantee of fair and cquitable
treatment. Remedies must be designed to eliminate these and any other
Agency practice or action which have served to creale a hostile
environment (n which the grievant has had to work as un employee and gs
President of the Local Union. But as we have seen from past experience
ordering the elimination of these practices is no guarantee that they will
ccase entirely Lo exist,

To assure full.compliance, which means to assurc tha( grievant will have

peace of mind, to carry oul his work and his union respansihilities free

from retaliation, disvrimination or indignitics of any kind, two further

remedies will be nevded, First, the Ageney will be instructed to develop

and 1 propose 1 new work pratoco! under which all relations between the

grievant and Lt. Rivera will be scparaled without any possible cxeeplion,
| Concretely that would mean the following: in addition to maintaining the
present arrangement under which the grievant and L Rivera work
different shifts and arc assiyned to different departments, the protocol will
instruet Lt Rivera that under no circumstances is he to supervige the
gricvant or (o Like any personncl  decision  with respect to him.
Furthermore, if for any reason he must coter Li. Rivera's working arca, the
gricvanl will be accompanicd by 4 munagement official designated by the
Warden. And if a personne! decision affecting the grievant is required Lo
be made which normally would fall to I, Rivera sphere ol responsibility,
in an exceptional situation, it will be made by the management official
designated by the Warden.

On behalf of the Agency, the Warden will prepare the protocol and submit
it 1o the arbitrator, with a copy to the Union. The Union will then subrnit
its comments on the protocol. Once the protocol is adopted in an award,
there will be in place » system of regular reports by the Agency and the
Union. After a reasonuble period of full fledged compliance, the regular
reporting requirement will cease to have cffeot. This is an extraordinary
remedy and is only justified by the Agency's failure to fully implement the

| awards in the prior arbitration cases, [s duration will depend on the
Agency. A reasonable period of compliance with the protocol would
Jjustify lifting the reporting requirement.

The next remedial question 1o be resolved is whether the grievant s
entitled to compensatory damages for the mental auguish which he hgg
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sullered. Under the provigions of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act and
pertinent case law, hc wouwld, ordinarily, be awarded compensatory
damages for his suffering, subject to the sound discretion of the
adjudicator. Scetion 102(a) of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 11.8.C.
Scction 1981a provides thet “the complaining party may recover
i compensatory and punitive damages” “aguinst a respondent why cogaged
in unlawful intentional discrimination™ which would certainly cover the
retaliatory acts of Li, Rivera. Arbitrator LaPenng’s Supplementary Award,
rendered September 7, 2008, exemplifies how arbitrators usually award
compensatory damages tor mental suffering in employment discrimination
and very particularly when reprisals are involved.

In my judgment, compensatory damages were entirely justificd, as set
forth in the L.aPenna award, but should not he awarded in the present case.
The reasons arc multiple. ‘The key word in Section [981a is “may™ which
! ! take to mean that the arbitrator has discretion, as dovs a judge, to weigh
| all pertinent elements ot the case to reach an equitable decision on whether
! to award compensatory damages.  On the one hand, there is the finding
‘ that the grievant hos suffered mental anguish. On the other, one of his
principal  complaints—“The  Agency...allows the Supervisor
continuously taint the disciplinary process by reporting frivolous
allcgations of misconduct as 4 form of reprisals”.—was not supporled by
cvidence. There is in fact a total Jack of evidence in the hearing record of
a pullern of Agency supported or allowed rctaliatory actions, What the
hearing record supports are two basic findings: first. that for limited time
periods grievant had to work under Lt. River's supervision and, second,
that therc were two retaliatory actions, one illegal action and onc unfair
action, From the date of Arbitrator 1.4Penpa’s award on the merits,
Fcbruary 6, 2007, uniil the January 15, 2009, the hearing in this case. is a
peried of two years. For that period of two years, the Union failed to
introduce evidence of the pattern of retaliatory conduct alleged in the
lormal grievance forni.

Also weighing on the side of nol awarding compensatory damages is the
finding that the gricvant failed to prove the charge that his supervisors bad
anfairly cvaluated his job performance and did so as a form of retaliatory
action. The hearing record demonstratcs that the charge was without
foundation. As noted, the result is to creatc ill will and make it more
difficult to reestahlish a normal working environment, The same is true
with respect to the unfounded claum of discrimination 10 the effect that
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only the gricvant was investigated under the procedures of the Program
Statement when in fact Lt. Rivera was subjected to the same procedurcs,

[Lis of course not possiblc to determine how much of grievant's present
emational suffering is due his having been supervised intermittently by Tt
Rivera and ta the four instances of retalintory actions and illegal and unfaly
decisions taken by the Agency more recently, and how much is caused by
& continuance ol sullering resulting from retaliatory conduct during the
period covered in Arbitrator LaPenna’s award. The heart of the matter i
whether his claim for compensatory damages has merit in light o[ his own
failures to fully act responsibly as the grieving party in this dispute.

Having weighed the relevant equitics, [ conclude that it would be
inappropriatc 10 award the grievant compensatory damages. In the hearing
he made clear thut what was most important to him was to be free from Lhe
hostile conditions caused by his having to interact with Lt. Rivera. ‘Lhat is
a right to which he is catitled, as decided earlier in this opinion. With the
full implementation of the terms ol the Protocol, as delincated previously,
his right to a normal working environment shauld effectively be assured.

Equity also requires that the grievant be made whole for any pecuniary
losses he may have suffered from retaligtory acts tor which the Agency
should be held to account. There arc two of those kinds; the four hours of
pay which tor whicb he was docked as AWO!, and the hours of pay he
would have réceived if his name hud not been erased from the overtime
list.

The recommendations herewith presented arc just that, recommendations,
which the parties should implement in the exervise of their good judgmenl,
1 make them in the exercise of my good conscience belicf that more may
be required to reach a just and final end to this dispute between the Union
and the Agency than can be achieved by an arbitration award. As stated
previously, the following are cast as recommendations because 1 consider
them to be proposals which are not within the remedial authority of the
arbitrator under the terms of the Master Agreciment.

First, it would be advisable to send this Opinion and Award to the Director
ot the Bureau of Prisons and (v the President of the American Federations
of Govemment FEruployces. There are two reasons for (his
recommendation. They may sce this dispute as exceptional, on¢ which
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requires attention and, ideally, their mutual consultation to assure (hat this
dispute is decenlly resolved.  There is a second consideration: the
prevention of what may become a tragedy. Although the Warden has thus
for contained the possibility of violence between the (wo principal
protagonists with his desist order, there still remains the potential for
physical violence. That could very well occur, if the protocol being
ordered fails to be cffective. The situation is potenlially explosive because
ol the deep felt antipathy the two protagonists feel toward each other. It
would be wisc to cemember the recurring tragedies reported in the press of
workplace violence vaused by an aggrieved employec whose emotional
control has snapped.

The two remaining recomunendations are addressed o the jromediate
parties. They may rccognize that it would be desirable to meet and confor
for the purposc working out their differences.  For example, 1 would
surely be a positive step in right direction, if’ the parties could reach an
agreement on the precise terms of the Protocol. The parties also may
choose 10 try mediation as their preferred method for resolving their
dilferences. As the arbitrator, [ would welcome whalever proposals the
parties can agrec to for the purpose of rcturning their relations 1o
nomalcy.
Prcliminary AWARD

L. The Agency claim that the pricvance is moot i3 denied.

2. The Agency claim that the grievant has unilaterally expanded the
grievance is denied,

3. The gricvance is upheld with respeet (0 the following claims of
violation of law, the LaPenna award and the Master Agreement, uy
detennined in the Opinion of this case: the Agency has not completely
arranged for Tt Rivera to have no supervisory authority or persormel
decision making over the gricvanl; and grievant has beea victimized by a
limited number of retaliatory, illegal and unfair actions for which the
Agency has the ultimate responsibility.

4.. For want ol probative evidence, the lollowing gricvances are denied:
the claims of discrimination for rcasons of national origin; the claim of
retaligtory  discrimination in the cvalustion of grievant’s work
performance; the claim of a pattern of reporting frivolous aliegations of

26



RECEIVED 85/04/2883 11:32 7877723589 LIza MENDOZA

AT -B4-2003 11:47 Ze:FACLLTAD

misconduct as a form of retaliation; und the claim of discriminatory
implementation of the Program Statement.

5. Within thirty days of the receipt of the Award, the Agency will submit
to the Arbitrator the terms of its proposed Protocol, following the
guidelines as defined in the Opinion at page 23 in the scotion entitled.
“What Remedies Should Be Awarded in This Case?” On the same date,
the Agency will make available u copy to the Union, The Union will
submit its comments on the proposed Protocol to the Arhitrator within
thirty days, The partics are urged to meet and conder (o determine whether
they can reach an agrecinent on the terms of the Protocol. 1f nccessary, &
hearing will be held on the matter. The final version of the Protocol will
be transmuitted o the parties in the form of an award.

6. The Agency will make the grievant whole for pecuniary losses he
experienced as the result of the four hours of pay he was docked for
AWOT. and the pay lost [or the hours he would have worked if his namc
had not be erased from the overtime list on February 6, 2008.

7. The Union’s claim for compensatory damages for mental sullering by
the grievant is denied.

8. Union Counsel’s petition for attorney’s fees is upheld on the ground
that the grievant has prevailed with respect to a number of his grievances
related to Titlc VIl of the Civil Rights Acl. The claimed foes are
approprialc in the “interest of justice”. 5 USC 5596. The procedures (o be
followed are set out in 29 CFR 1614.501 (e) (1) () and () (2) (i).

9. With respect to the two recommendations at pages 25-26 of the
Opinion, the parties will take action which they deem to be appropriate.

10. This is not a fina} award. The Arbitrator retains jurisdiction of the case

to coswc that all instructions in the Opinion and Award are duly
implemented.

Opinion and Preliminary Award by:

lz‘u/w%y
David M. Helfel

Arbitrator
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DR. DAVID M, HELFELD SNl
e
PO BOX 22712 Urr sTATION A PP )\dl/c A

RIQ PIEDRAS, FR 00923
; OFF.: 747.784-0000 A-2508
RES: 787.73159G1 . FAX. 787-287-5584
2-26-08

Tiffany O, Lee, Bsq. | Lilliam E. Mendoza Toro, Esq,.
LMR Specialist

Legal chrcscnrativc. AFGE
Federal Bureyy of Prisong MDc, Guaynabo, PR

By Fax and Maj
Re: Case Number FMCS 0803493
To the Legal Representatives of the Parties:

In my Resolution of November 20, 2008.
hearing date ip the eaptioned case was confirmed, “unless there s
countervailing superior lepal authority which would require an
arbitrator 1o hald hjs hand untj] the administrative investigation hag
| been completed.” In dctcrmining that no countervailing superior

legal authority hag been Presented by the Apcncy, account hag been
taken of the folluwing motiuns and doeuments:

the January 15, 2009

I. The Agency's motians ot November 20 and 28, 2008
! - The Union’s motions ofNovcmheq 25 and December 8, 2008
- The Program Statement of the Offjen of Internal Affairs deuling

Wwith proccdures for inwsh’gating allegations of stay misconduet,
No.1210.24, 572072003,

- The Master Agreement between the Parties,
- The contents of the “Formal Grievance Form”

e N

[ N

L April 19, 2008

nd cxpeditions procedure cavering all
ble”. The grievance was filed April 1y,
2008 and the arbitrator notified (he parties on July |5 that he had
been designated to hear the case and th date of the hearing was sel
for January 15, 2009, The latter date, in my judgrent, complies
; with  the  Master Agrecment’s quirement  of “expeditious
procedure”, The only question to be decided is whether the Agency
has presented a eonvineing argument 10 justify delaying the hearing
i beyond the date of Jan uary 1§, 2009.
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Turning to he Agency’s pusition, it consists of three points: first,
“the underlying  basis for the instant  grievance s under
investipalion” by the (]A: Second,Program Statement 1210.24(9)9¢)
provides that “Employces who are interviewed may not discuoss the
subject  mutter  with individuals  other than the employeg’s
representative; and third, employees who discussed such subjeet
matler in an arbitration hearmg “could face adverse achon,
including removal.” Points one and two do not stand in the way of
the scheduled arbitration bearing. It is the third point as siafed by
the Agency that does. Ryt there is nothing explicit in the Program
Statement thal prohibit employees in an arbitration hearing from
testifying o matters abouy which they have previously given
testimeny in the coursc of an OTA investigation. 1n s November 20
motion, the Agency stated mistakenly that (he prohibition against
discussing included “or lestifying”, but the latter words were added
and are not in the text of the Program Stutement. On its face, the
only prohibition is against discussing with individuals the subject
matter which forms part of un OIA investigation. Therc is na
prohihition against testifying in an arhitration hearing, There is a
world of difference between discussions in general which can
corrupt the integrity of an investigation and lestifying under oath iy
a hearing in which dyc process safeguards prevail,

‘ Indeed, 1f an explicit prohibition 4gainst testifying had boen
i included, cspecially il it was cnfurced as g legitimate obstacle 10

holding an arbitration hearing without any time limit, a( (he

discretion of the Agency, it would be open to legal challenge as an

arbitrary cxcreise of power and, as well, as in violation of its

contractual obligations under the Master Agreement, Byt that
i imaginary horrible js clearly not the casg, Rather what we huve are
‘ two independent systems. two tracks for getting at the truth: OlA’s
Program  Statement and the Master Agreement’s arbitration
procedures. Both can and should coexist; neithe, trumps the other;
in both tesiimony is under oath; and the coexistence of both requires
a modicum of mutyal accommudution. And i( should be noted that
both explicitly recognize the importance of timeliness and the
avoidance of delay. Thus il iy that the Master Agreement directs the
arbitrator to decide within thirty days alier the close of the henring
(Art. 32, Sec.p) und the Progrum Statement requires all cascs “10 be
tracked to ensure they ure resolved promptly (Program Objectives
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g). On the factor of tmeliness, Section 9¢ provides: “QlA will he
sent a status update every 60 days on local investigations which staff
are unable to complete within the sixty day time frame.” |t is
particularly noteworthy thal the Agency has failed tq ¢xplain why it
1s that after cight months from the inception of QIA’s investigation,
it still has not rendered its final report,

Finally, and decisively in my Judpment, is the Agency's failure to
demonstrale that the scheduled hearing date, cven though it may
cover partially or (otally matters being covercd under the OlA’s
investigation, would somehow adversely affeel (he integrity of that
investigation,  I'he contrary scems t0 me to be the case. The
arbilration hearing will produce a record of sworn testimony,
subject to cross examination and the documentary evidence which is
adjudged to be relevant ta the grievance, [he hearing record will be
available to the QA invesligators to check agains{ their ow
potential findings and recommendations. Indeed, assuming that the
OIA has not rendered u final report by Tanuary 15, 2009, the
arbitration hearing record may open up additional lines of inquiry
for the OIA and, as well, permil jts investipaturs to make a final
cvaluation of their preliminary findings and recommendations.

Therefore, the parlies are instructed to prescnl their respective cases
in the hearing 1o be held January 15, 2009. In accordance with
Article 32, Seution d-2 of the Master Agreement, “the Employer wili
determine the location of the arbitration hearing”. Notice will be
given to the Union's Representative and to the arbitrator, by FAX,
at least three days prior (o the date of (he hearing, As required by
Article 32, Section [ “The Union and the Agency will exchange
initial witness lists no later than seven (7) days priar to (he
arbitration hearing.™

Resolution Adopted by Arbitrator David M., ilzfcld
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B5-3176. 037 F’ORHIL GRIZVANCE FORM cnriu
WAy 1094

U.8, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICR PEDZRAL BUREAD OF PRISCNS

1.6xievant ()

2.Duty Btation:
Jorge Rivera

M.D.C. Guaynabo, Puerta Rice

3.Raprssantative of Crisvance(w)

4. Informal vasolution attoapted with
Attorngy to be named
|

Anthony Haynea, Warden

. Teduzal| Prisen systam Directivm, Executive Order, Statutw violation: Title VII, 1964 Civil

<

Rights ket , Program Statement .3713.23 Diaerimination Retallation & Complain® Procesy, Mastec
Agreemarnc, Arbitraticn Awards FMCS # 01=12760 § 05-03206, Any other applicable rule,
rogulatioh or policy

6, In th# way wara sach of the above viaclated?
The Agency, by the actions of Aathony Haynes, Wa
binding arbitratien awards FMCS #01-12760 & 05-5
parties’ Collective Barqgaining Agreoment which g
unconditibnal right to fair and saguitable treatm
reprisals and no be free from discrimination bax
Specifileally, the Agency showed animua toward Jo
adminlstrptive snquiry o decarmine whather diac
Unprofoasianal Conduct on April 2, 2008. The Age
Liautanant, unfettersd disesretionary authovity t
Supervisor to continuously zaint the disciplinar
ol misconduct as a form of reprigols. As a vesu
eng lorg term remedial and nffective meamures, T
ngainst bagad on national origin (Puertc Rican)
only employes of the Fedsral Bureau of Prisons I
Lrom a Coprectional Supcrvisor.

Da spacific.

zden, gontinues to vielate the final and
206, the Statute and provisions of the
varanteas Jorgs Rivera, Union Prasident. the
ent, The legal right to ba free from

ad on Unjon activity and national arigin.
g4 Riveras., by authczizing an official
iplinury action is warranted for

noy continues to gzant Duniel ANivora,

¢ pupervise the gricvant, whien alluws the
¥ process Dy reporting frivolous allegaticne
1% of the Agenay’s rofusal tu take Lmaediate
arge Rivera continues to be digerimlnaged
and uUnion affiliaeion, ‘Thersfore, being tha
equired to wear 4 body alarm for protestion

7.Data(s)
April 2,

of vialstion(s)
R0O8 #nd continuing.

€ Request; iwandy (i.0., what you want dona)
Coace and desist ordex; Attorney and logal fees
tho grieviRnce and arbitration. The award of cqu

incurred {n tho proceasing and preparation of
itablo relfef to i{nclude and not be limited to

|

compensatory dawdges in the form of pocuniacy damages. Any other remedy deemed apprapriate
and necesaacy by the arbikzator,

2.Perscn with whon riled . 10.Title

K. E. Holt

“autheast Ragional Directaer

ll.sxgnuth:- of recipiaeant

ot

F

12.2at0 simee RECEIVED APR 2 3 2008

cartified 3ignatuse receipt

I heraby jpartify thl;,q!?g;;:Dtt inforoal reaolu

tion hava bean wnauccesalul .

gnatuxe of Grievent

14.6ignature of Rapresontative
Attorney to be nawad

¥ Agerigy: Capy Unlon Local;
| gy be replicatced via wWp)
0aked Octobar 1594

Copy -
(This

17637

Council of pxlson Localay Copy =~ Grigvant,
This form replaces RP-

A'ﬁe ney Aﬁg’ffa(,hmm’f

Gk -1
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From; Jorge Rivera

To: Diaz, Maria T.; Santana, Jose A.; Segarra, Juan
Date: 9/9/2008 7:30 PM

Subject; ISM Concerns;

1 request that the following issues be addressed with J. Hernandez, ISO. Mr. Hernandez refuses to follow
the procedures, rules, regulations and established protocols that are outiined for the ISM Department.

Mr. Mernandez has engaged in phantom counts by not submitting accurate count sltips while having
Inmates housed in the R&D area. The officer has also failed to identify inmates who return from coure,
reau'tmg in delays of the 4:00 PM count. Thesa delays are further compromised when the Officer fails to
separate the newly committed inmates from the rest of the population, resulting in escorting inmates to
housing units withoys being properly screened and medically evaluated. In addition, the officer refuses to
identify incoming inmates by having the Rear Gate officer escort court returns to the ISM area. As g
result of such violation of procedure, all inmates, court returns, special housing unit inmates and newly
committed inmates are placed in the same cell. Furthermore, while conducting strip searches, the officer
engages in rehigious prayers with the ininate population. Causing unnecessary risk and security concerns
to n;%in the [SM department. Therefore, 1 request that these issues be discussed and properly

cor Cd.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.
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41 012 WARNING AND ASSURANCE TO EMPLOYEER

b REQUIRED TO PROVIDE INFORMATION 2oerm
U.s, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

FEDERAI BUREAU OF PRISONS

--# ks an officlal agministralive Hhguicy reqarding miscanducr ar tmpierer
cericrmanTy of eflicial duties

i

“nis Lnguiry pe-tains to: Unprofessional COnduct_Ligvclx§ng Jesus M. Nernandez)

R S - -

Lto-nterview 1s to obtatn information whizh will aszist in the
~hather asfvinizirasiva ACTION L3 warrante !

deterrin :lCR o}

Fe asked a nwnuar n* questlonsg ragardlng tae perIelimance of yoaur

Teply o rthese guestitns and ageaw
T, omay be underiaken it 700 relusc

a7 aation,
reply fully and

YOUT Alswsiy LOr any nformation or evisansc gaines by veason of veye
a“.mev 3 Tan fe usad AJainst you in Any criminal 1‘)LUL=\.1-AAG, exCcedt tha o1 you
Kaowingly and wallZullyv grovide false Si.atements or lnformarwun inoyour arzwers,
may ke crinivally prosecuted foz that actiaon. 71hae answe:s vou Zuznish and
Irforpation or evidence resulting (heretrom may be used i the course of
dyency disciplivacy nrocandings whsch ceu'd result in disciplinary aztion,
tnaicding dismisaal.,

Tf you are a rmerbe: oI the Largaining ualt and you believe your righly are heing
threaleneR, you may request tha pres=uce of 8 representativas, Tf you desire a
:eoresenr¢civ:, no turihmr questioning will zake place untilf Your cepresantalive
p] presenf. However, 1% your repregentative is oL availlable within a4 reasonanle
sertad ullting, gqursticrning may protesd without a repressatasve bein¢ present.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

T have rc‘d and understond ay righrs pad ooligat lons &2t forth amave:
g E)

e T

7 = :
fee )yww K:g P Date
\ e
b 10‘& 'J/tt’g__’ Officer % y
LAY A, Inma Systams c — B
i VeTrAa ays 1l ice / / / ).‘r-(),

\-‘. sonducty ////.5/)5

Fdrgman, Special invesiligative Agent

‘Thte ot wﬁy te repiicatel v _g WE Thiov torm replaces BP~3194 cated AGC 93
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FEDERAT. BUREAL OF PIISONS August |, 1 99§

. Attachment J, Page |

Huued States Departmen: of Justice
Eedgeral Prisons Svstem
AFFIDAVIT
Commonwealth of Pucrio Rico
County of San Juan

1, Jorge Rivera, Inmate System Dfficer, at MDC Guaynabo, P K., make the following statemeut
treely and without any Pro(uise or assurances:

On[letruary 6, 2008, at approximately 6:00 a.., Licporied to J. Rodrigucs, Operations
Lieptenant, in order o assist on a scheduled Medical Escorted Tnp. Lieutenant Rodriguey
infgrimed me that he did not recall observing my name as schedule for the purpose of assisting in
the rcheduled local Hospital Liscort. Taeutenant Rodriguez also mentioned that he had covered
the pehedule trip with Officer Vidro, Tool Room Officer. Licutenant Rodrigucz also denied
eraging my name from the schedule trip and elaimed that he was unaware if anyone had done so.

Atdpproximataly 6.55 wam., Tentered inte the Lieutenants Office and approached the scheduled
Tocz) Hospital Escort Tuip assigmnenl aren, As 1 observed the remaiaing scheduled trips for the
wcc{k, Dasked Licutenant D. Rivera if he had erused my name for the Escort Trip scheduled for
Wednesday, Febraary 6, 2008 Licutcuant D, Rivera stood up aud said “who the fugk are you to
question me about aay trips n my (ucking office " | inmediately atterpted to activate my
pergonal radio body alarm und also activaied the triple deuces’ alarm in order to notify the
Conjtrol Center. As I exited the Licutenants Office, Lieutenant J. Rusu entercd the area and
c!c:}ud the alurm.

| lhg%n proceeded 1o inform the Acting Warden of the above mentioned events.

pan being asked whether T used the “F” word or uny other unprofessional language roward -

Lictrtcnmur Rivera, [responded negative. //—)
. N / L T L
I'have rcad the foregoing stutement of /L pages and it is tue ;z(d correny to f cpmﬂ ay
kncwiedge and belief. . . L3
- :—.J'_AQ‘: L. 7 =

Signed
Subseribed and sworn before ine, Efrain Rivera, Special Investigative \>m, ng}ur the authority of
Seetton 303 of Tite 5, Uniled States Code, this 22+ day of e n.‘-')mw

Efrain Rivera
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U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE P.S. 1380.05
FEDERAL BUREAU OF PRISONS August 1, 1995
Attachment J, Page |

United Statgs Department of Justice
Ecderal Prisons System
AFFIDAVIT

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico
County of San Juan

1, Danicl Rivera, Lieutenant, at MDC Guaynabo, P.R,, make the following statement freely and
without any promise or assurances:

On Fobruary 6, 2008, at approximately 7:00 a.m., whilc pertorming duties as day watch
Activities Lieutenant and while in the Licutenanl's Office performing dutics, all of the sudden
Rivera Jorge, 1.5.0., and also Union President, walked in o the Licutenant’s OtYice and began
checking on the medical trips clip board, While checking the ¢lip board he turned eround and
asked me if [ crased his name from the escorted trips. T told Officer Rivera that I did not wark
with the hospital trips assignments, and only the Oncrations Lieutenant was the one who assigned
statl to the hospital trips escort. Officer Rivera stated, “you are the one who docs those things”.
'l informed Officer Rivera once again that ! did not deal with medical trips. Officer Rivern
‘stated, “ you want to fuck with me, watch this”, and pressed the triple deuces on the 7838
extension phone. Officer Rivera then left the office and Lisutenant Rosa came inside the
Licutenant’s Office and clear the triple deuces and I cxplained what has transpired with Offlcer
Rivera Jorge.

By the arbitration decision I am not to supervise Officer Rivera Jorge in anyway. 1da not go to
Officer Rivera’s work ares 10 avoid any contact with him, however Officor Rivera is invading my
work area and {5 provoking me, thus creating & hostile work environment for no reason.

T have been warking day watch for the past ycar to uvoid any contact and misinterpretation with
Otlicer Rivera, but he keeps on invading my work area.

| was not unprofessional toward Officer Rivera Jorge, and [ did not used “F” words,
J am willing to take a polygraph test regarding any allcgations made by Officer Rivera Jorge.

Fhave read the foregoing statement of _/ pages and it is true and co
knowledge and belief.

Signe.
Subscribed and swomn befaré me, Efrain Rivera, Special Investigative Agent, under
of Segtion 303 pf Tidle $, Unlt;d/sm:s Code, this 2~ day

uf ,QM . ; - i

Aﬁ?nu{ fHa(_ hrrea TC
D



